
Agenda - Economy, Infrastructure and Skills 
Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 1 - Senedd
Meeting date: Wednesday, 11 January 
2017
Meeting time: 09.00

For further information contact:
Gareth Price
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565 
SeneddEIS@assembly.wales

Private pre-meeting (09:00-09:10)

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 
interest

 

2 Industry regulator / Ofcom Advisory Committee for Wales - 
Digital infrastructure in Wales
(09:10-09:45) (Pages 1 - 22) 

John Davies, Chair, Ofcom Advisory Committee for Wales

Attached Documents: 
Research brief
EIS(5)-01-17 (p1) Ofcom Advisory Committee for Wales

3 Industry regulator / Ofcom Cymru - Digital infrastructure in Wales
(09:45 - 10:20) (Pages 23 - 26) 

Rhodri Williams, Director Wales, Ofcom
Huw Saunders, Ofcom's Director of Telecoms and Networks, Ofcom

Attached Documents: 
EIS(5)-01-17 (p2) Ofcom Cymru

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Break (10:20 - 10:30)

4 Small business representatives - Digital infrastructure in Wales
(10:30 - 11:15) (Pages 27 - 34) 

Charles de Winton, Rural Surveyor, Country Land and Business Association
Joshua Miles, Policy Manager, Federation of Small Businesses

Attached Documents: 
EIS(5)-01-17 (p3) Country Land and Business Association
EIS(5)-01-17 (p4) Federation of Small Businesses

5 IT experts - Digital infrastructure in Wales
(11:15 - 12:00) (Pages 35 - 42) 

Andrew Ferguson, thinkbroadband
Mark Donovan, Client Executive, Atos Wales

Attached Documents: 
EIS(5)-01-17 (p5) thinkbroadband
EIS(5)-01-17 (p6) Atos Wales

6 Paper(s) to note
 

6.1 Letter from the Chair of the Committee to Finance Wales regarding Finance 
Wales' annual report

(Pages 43 - 46) 

Attached Documents: 
EIS(5)-01-17 (p7) Letter from the Chair of the Committee to Finance Wales 
regarding Finance Wales' annual report



6.2 Letter from Finance Wales to the Chair of the Committee regarding Finance 
Wales' annual report

(Pages 47 - 51) 

Attached Documents: 
EIS(5)-01-17 (p8) Letter from Finance Wales to the Chair of the Committee 
regarding Finance Wales' annual report

6.3 Additional information from the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and 
Infrastructure regarding different National Infrastructure Commission models

(Pages 52 - 59) 

Attached Documents: 
EIS(5)-01-17 (p9) Additional information from the Cabinet Secretary for 
Economy and Infrastructure regarding different National Infrastructure 
Commission models

7 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the remainder of the meeting

 

8 Draft report on the National Infrastructure Commission for Wales
(12:00-12:15) (Pages 60 - 101) 

Attached Documents: 
EIS(5)-01-17 (p10) Draft report

Private de-brief (12:15-12:30)
 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Digital Infrastructure in Wales 

 

This paper reflects views from the Ofcom Wales Advisory Committee and are not necessarily those 

of Ofcom. 

Digital infrastructure is a means to an end and not an end in itself.  The infrastructure is installed to 

enable citizens and organisations to achieve benefits in their lives and operations. Take up is a 

necessary measure but an insufficient measure because it does not capture the valued benefits 

derived from using the infrastructure. 

Superfast Cymru is a premises landline digital infrastructure. Mobile is part landline and part wireless 

digital infrastructure.  Mobile is the digital infrastructure for people ‘on the move’, as well as a 

premises infrastructure. 

Superfast Cymru is a work in progress to achieve completion, take-up and benefit realisation.  It 

started with substantial supply side commitment but without matching benefit marketing to citizens 

and organisations in intervention areas. 

The Welsh Government then started a project to focus on benefit realisation to businesses from 

exploitation of the infrastructure. The Ofcom Advisory Committee Wales had raised concerns 

publicly on the need to focus on stimulation to realise the benefits, as a return on the £406 million 

investment. 

The fruits of this work are seen in the government’s figures, but it is remains work in progress.  The 

realisation of the benefits from stimulation was hampered by BT changing its deployments of 

infrastructure. 

The project seeks to mobilise Welsh Government resources including local authorities.  Some 

authorities were more energetic in helping mobilisation than others. 

The project is evolving and there is scope for all businesses paying rates in intervention areas to be 

contacted.  There is scope for publicly funded bodies to consider whether they would benefit from 

citizens and organisations in intervention areas taking up superfast links and consequently 

promoting their beneficial use. 

Mobile coverage in Wales is worse than all the other nations both to premises and particularly ‘on 

the move’.  The topography of Wales and its population density across 80% of its land mass hampers 

private sector commercial coverage.  The economics could be changed by permitting companies to 

have masts of 100m+ and not charging rates and making available sites and wayleaves for the 

backhaul free on public land.  Such changes would not provide universal coverage but would help.  A 

subsidy is probably necessary for coverage in areas which are still uncommercial.  A planning policy 

which makes consent a Wales decision might also help. 

The other schemes for broadband are helpful because they fund services which the commercial 

market would not support. The schemes are also beneficial because applicants are individuals and 

likely to consider the individual benefits to themselves of the service. 

The objective of coverage and speed from digital infrastructure, which creates the opportunity for 

benefits across the whole of Wales, needs a tight definition. The Wales Advisory Committee 

submitted a paper to Ofcom and possible solution to complete universal coverage.  The paper is 

attached as an annex. 

Pack Page 17



In essence it proposes use of multi-technology 10mbs solutions for coverage (particularly in use of 

wireless/landline combinations) with asset sharing and marginal cost open interconnect funded by a 

2% tithe for five years on all network providers fixed, mobile or wireless. The new networks to be 

owned by the infill company with shareholding in proportion to tithes and the infill company not 

retailing its assets.  It is very likely that many of the solutions would involve wireless connections. 

This paper has focussed on the supply side reflecting the Committee questions.  The realisation of 

benefits and how that will be achieved from past, present and future investment is important, if 

public spend is to be productive. Therefore, there should be a comprehensive well-funded 

mobilisation plan sustained over several years.  It should involve public bodies, particularly with 

targeted links to the remote business and citizen communities. Experience suggests that a coherent 

funded cooperative mobilisation produces beneficial results. 

 

John Davies – Chair, Advisory Committee for Wales 

8.12.16 

Pack Page 18



Advisory Committee for Wales – Input 

Universal Service Obligation for Broadband (USOB) 

Introduction 

The USOB proposition is worded derivatively, as a supply side duty, derived from the 

monopoly position of the Royal Mail and British Telecom.  This paper approaches the issue 

from a customer perspective (not supplier perspective) and the reality of several suppliers 

(actual or potential) and multiple technologies.  This paper proposes a UK wide solution but 

with a default to a Wales only solution. 

Universal Customer Service Broadband definition (UCSB) 

Universal means all customers (individuals, groups, organisations) in the United Kingdom 

can buy a link to all others. The link can carry voice, data or images enabling viable live two 

way communication between the customers. 

The customers may be at a fixed location or on the move and hence their communication 

needs are met and their lives benefit. 

Link definition 

The link can be provided by landline, radio, satellite or mixtures of these links (includes 

technological solutions which are inhibited by current regulatory policy). 

The link will be able to carry live two-way quality two-person video conferencing and 

simultaneous information transfer at reading speed (400 words/minute).  The link (L) will 

always be at 10Mbit/s on a two-way basis (contention and capacity management restrictions 

are excluded to ensure no speed loss at any time. 

This paper will adopt 10Mbit/s two way as satisfactory customer need (L).  The equalisation 

of upload/download speeds reflects non-domestic use and more demanding domestic user 

use. A move away from the equality definition should be validated by consumer/business 

user research. Equality favours future proofing. 

Premise USOB or mobile USOB 

Customer benefit will be maximised if the USOB meets the needs of customers at premises 

or on the move.  The use of mobile communications has demonstrated clearly the benefits to 

customers’ lives of communicating whilst on the move.  Therefore this paper advocates 

delivery of USOB should be for both premise communication, on the move communication 

either with another customer on the move or at a premise and vice versa. A move away from 

complete ‘on the move’ coverage, again should be user tested and any diminution 

expressed in user terms. 

The customer benefits flow directly to the customer who can now have a (L). The benefits 

also flow to customers who already have a link because they can now communicate 

effectively with the newly linked person.  Universality means maximising benefits to all 

customers because it is a two-way network benefit expansion. 

 

Pack Page 19



 

Economies of USOB 

Competitive market entrants in the communications market will not give a (L) service to all 

customers in the UK either at premises or on the move because the economic return on 

capital is uneconomic. 

Therefore to provide the benefits to customers’ lives of a quality (L) a method of funding is 

needed.  Funding should not result in patch pricing, nor should it be used to bar social tariffs 

which the state or Ofcom favour. 

A reversion to creating a monopoly across the whole market and forcing the monopolist to 

use the monopolistic profits to pay for uneconomic infrastructure with standard UK prices is 

infeasible.  BT’s fixed line USO is also tempered at the extremes by cost and does not 

provide universality in a fixed line market. 

The three routes to funding are the customer or customer groups pay the actual 

infrastructure cost, the government pays from general tax or suppliers pay through a tithe on 

their revenue.  A mix of these options is also feasible. 

Universality will not flow from the consumer paying for the infrastructure, as they do not have 

the funds. General taxation would mask the rewards from the bigger market to the suppliers 

and would be a subsidy from non-users.  Therefore the preferred option is for the industry to 

pay. The communications market is far from being highly competitive and in both the 

subsidiary markets of fixed line and mobile the suppliers earn monopolistic/oligopolistic 

profits (the profits are reinforced by barriers to new entrants). The funding should be on UK 

revenue as a percentage and therefore being both proportionate to market share and adding 

a constant percentage to cost across all suppliers.  All suppliers are permitted to raise their 

prices by the same amount. The funding to be completed over five years. Logically the 

benefits will flow back to all the consumers of the USOB and the increased revenue from 

new USOB consumers to the suppliers. A 2% tithe could produce £3650 funding /line for all 

822,000 without service, after 5 years. (Current Wales superfast subsidy is about £520 /line). 

Achieving delivery 

There are various options for achieving USOB links and the most economic provision will 

depend on local circumstances e.g. an isolated Welsh cottage up a mountain may be most 

economically suited to a mobile link but the same cottage in a valley floor may be most 

economically suited to a landline or landline and Wi-Fi. The critical factor for USOB is the 

existing suppliers declaring all the areas where they will not provide service after 2017 with 

USOB quality links.  Analysis can then map all premises and road networks without USOB 

(some of these areas may be urban). 

The next issue is, given the identity of localities without USOB links, how is the capability 

provided.  The choice of technologies is varied but more important will be the ability to mix 

technologies and interconnect new or other suppliers to existing supplier assets at marginal 

cost prices (subject to regulatory control) and the marginal cost pricing to apply to traffic 

carriage both ways across the link.  The pricing is vital to open entry of the most economic 

link construction and must be done first. 

Pack Page 20



Achieving delivery from the most economical solution and least burden on the suppliers and 

customers could be achieved by inviting existing suppliers to bid for delivering links patch by 

patch or by offering the patches at auction and inviting any supplier/supplier consortium/new 

supplier (free of policy barriers to entry) new supplier consortium, community consortia or by 

all the existing suppliers forming a UK company funded by their tithe and given five years to 

deliver USOB links to all premises and on the move locations by the most economic mix of 

technologies.  The incentive to do it economically rewards them with a lower tithe and 

shared rewards to the company for subsequent carriage revenue from asset ownership. If 

the USB company fails to deliver universality in 5 years the 2% tithe continues until 

completion. Analysis of the actual deployment costs is necessary. A threshold of £3650 /line 

might be an attractive way of diminishing user universality at the margins. Current 

experience suggests that the total cost of provision to all excluded customers could probably 

be absorbed within the total tithe income over 5 years, as it is a small number of customers. 

A USB company is the optimum solution.  

Universality means that areas may not be excluded 

The USOB company would be a de facto monopoly for the USOB links and hence would 

need to be regulated. The company would not own the end customer relationship which 

would be open to competition but just be a network link provider to retail suppliers. 

The profits being reaped by suppliers are above the level that a perfectly competitive market 

would generate. This paper proposes a solution which transfers some excess profit to 

provide the offer of service to customers who are uneconomic for private enterprise 

provision. It will be a judgement call as to whether the service definition should be 

diminished to allow suppliers to keep more excess profit and exclude some localities 

(premises or roads) or individual premises. This paper advocates a way forward where there 

is a clear incentive to provide UCSB in the cheapest way without conflict and with the 

uneconomic costs being borne by all those who will benefit.  Fundamentally the balance of 

economic surplus should be given to customers, not retained by the imperfectly competitive 

suppliers. The regulator, as stand in for customer competitive power, should ensure USOB is 

available to all customers to fulfil its raison d’être. 

Wales has the worst mobile coverage in the UK on all dimensions and consequently large 

areas where customers on the move have no coverage. The rural areas of Wales also have 

material gaps in broadband fixed coverage.  Wales has a low GDP/head compared with the 

rest of the UK and a disproportionate number of small businesses in its rural heartland.  

Therefore from a purely Welsh perspective a Wales only company on this model is as 

desirable as a UK model.  The diminishing of the Universal Customer Service Broadband 

would reinforce the existing economic disadvantages of Wales and its citizens. 

Wales has three people per square kilometre compared to 15 people per square kilometre in 

England. 

Conclusions for true universality 

1) Define USOB in customer terms not supplier terms and call it Universal Customer 

Service Broadband (UCSB) 

2) Include ‘on the move’ as well as to premises (because on the move is normal user 

life!) 

Pack Page 21



3) Describe UCSB link in terms of beneficial use constant two way live image with voice 

and information 

4) Set minimum standard as 10Mbit/s constantly 

5) Supply industry to declare areas not covered by UCSB in 12/17 by 12/16 

6) Map areas without UCSB 

7) Fund by 2% tithe on revenue of all market suppliers with completion in five years and 

stop tithe for early completion or continue until universality. 

8) Determine marginal cost pricing regime for interconnect to all existing assets which 

could serve areas without UCSB and similar regime for traffic carriage  

9) Set up a not for profit company from all suppliers to deliver UCSB to all customer 

premises and road by 2022 as network provider (not retail)  

10) Remove any policy barriers to new entrants being part of company hence generating 

lowest cost single or multi technology solutions 

11) Regulate company provision, maintenance and economic performance on UCSB 

annually. 

12) 1-11 above will provide UCSB to all customers but the economics may mean policy 

makers will exclude customers on the move from their UCSB definition and exclude 

premises (even if grouped) where the marginal cost price of provision is above a 

threshold.  Both exclusions mean that it is ‘almost Universal Customer Service 

Broadband’ and is discriminatory! 

13) Wales has a great need for the benefits of UCSB as it has the worst mobile coverage 

in the UK and material fixed network gaps, particularly in its low population density 

areas. 

 

Pack Page 22



Submission from Ofcom Cymru – Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee,      
11 January 2017

Please see below hyperlinks to Ofcom’s Connected Nations 2016: Wales report and 
Connected Nations 2016: UK report; and associated press release

Connected Nations 2016: Wales report
Connected Nations 2016 (UK)

Superfast broadband now reaches 8 in 10 premises 
in Wales 
16 December 2016 

 Superfast broadband now reaches 85%, or 1.23 million, premises in Wales
 New app available in Welsh to check both Wi-Fi and mobile signals
 Geographic coverage by all four operators is only half the UK average 

The availability of superfast broadband has jumped in Wales, with eight in ten (85%) 
properties able to get a connection. 
The findings are part of Ofcom’s Connected Nations 2016 report – the most authoritative, in-
depth look at the state of the UK’s telecoms and wireless networks.
This year’s report shows good progress on the availability and take-up of communications 
services, which are crucial to people’s personal and working lives.
Two years ago, superfast broadband was only available to just over half (55%, or 780,000) 
of premises in Wales – the lowest of any nation in the UK, and 20 percentage points lower 
than the UK average at the time. This has now jumped 73,200 in a year, to 1.23 million 
premises, from 1.14 million, driven largely by the Welsh Government’s Superfast Cymru 
programme.
In the past year, those able to get a superfast connection as a result of the Superfast Cymru 
programme has increased 6%, to 620,611 premises. The programme aims to reach 690,000 
buildings by the end of 2017. However, the report finds there is more to do – particularly in 
boosting mobile and broadband coverage, and improving the quality of service provided by 
telecoms companies.
Rural areas still lag behind on broadband, and Wales has the second-highest proportion of 
rural properties among the UK’s Nations. This brings increased challenges for providers 
when rolling out of 4G mobile and superfast broadband connections.
Around three in ten properties – over 94,000 – in rural areas cannot get a connection of over 
10 Mbit/s, which is the tipping point after which most people rate their broadband experience 
as ‘good’. This is often because they are situated a long way from the local street cabinet or 
telephone exchange.
To help close this speed gap, Ofcom has today set out its technical advice for the UK 
Government on implementing its plans, announced in 2015, for universal broadband.
Today’s Connected Nations report also presents the current level of mobile coverage across 
the country. While the picture is improving, with 4G reaching more premises, coverage still 
falls short and Ofcom wants to see better coverage across the UK’s landmass.
So we have begun discussions with mobile operators to look at radical and ambitious 
solutions to deliver universal mobile coverage, to keep pace with consumers’ needs.
Achieving decent, universal broadband

Pack Page 23

Agenda Item 3

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0032/95882/CN16-Wales.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0035/95876/CN-Report-2016.pdf
http://teams/sites/mcr/med/Announcements/Infrastructure/Connected%20Nations/Connected%20Nations%202016/o%09https:/www.ofcom.org.uk/research-and-data/infrastructure-research/connected-nations-2016
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/consultations-and-statements/category-1/broadband-uso
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-plans-to-make-sure-no-one-is-left-behind-on-broadband-access
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/94740/Text-of-letter-sent-to-MNO-CEOs.pdf


The number of properties lacking access to decent broadband has fallen significantly in 
recent years, and is likely to fall further, given on-going investments by industry and 
Government.
But the universal service would ensure every home and small business in the country has 
the right to a decent, affordable broadband connection of 10 Mbit/s or above by the end of 
the current parliament.
Ofcom’s analysis shows that this speed is sufficient to meet the current needs of a typical 
household. The online activity of users who can access this speed is far less constrained 
than those who cannot.

However, households are likely to need greater speeds as new, data-hungry applications 
emerge. We will therefore monitor the universal service and recommend its minimum speed 
to rise when necessary.
The final design of the service will be decided by Government, and then implemented by 
Ofcom. We have today set out technical advice to inform the Government’s decisions on 
factors such as speed, eligibility, affordability and funding.
As part of this, we have scoped three potential scenarios – standard broadband offering
a 10 Mbit/s download speed; a more highly specified version of this service, including a 
1Mbit/s upload speed; and a superfast broadband service.

Pack Page 24



Government has said its preference PDF, 156.4 KB is for the universal service to be funded 
by industry. Under this model, the companies providing the universal service would recover 
any unfair cost burden from a fund paid into by a range of telecoms companies.
Ofcom has also considered the need for universal broadband to reach the most vulnerable 
customers, including those on low incomes. There could be a need for a social tariff to 
provide affordable broadband for these customers, as there is for landline telephones today 
(4)
More to do on mobile coverage
Mobile coverage in Wales has improved in the past year, but there is more work to do before 
voice and data services match consumers’ rising expectations.
Some seven in ten (73%) of premises in Wales can now receive an indoor voice service 
from all networks, up from 65% last year and indoor data services are available in over half 
(57%) of premises, up from 47% last year.
In geographic terms, Wales has more voice not spots (12%) than the UK (10%). But for data, 
Wales ranks the same as the UK as a whole, with about 16% of the landmass not covered 
from any operator.
Geographic voice coverage from all operators in Wales is 52% (UK 66%) but geographic 
data coverage from all operators is only 27% - almost half the UK average.
Mobile phone users increasingly need coverage everywhere, so Ofcom is examining how it 
can help make that happen. We are also calling on all operators PDF, 41.9 KB to go beyond 
current targets by exploring options for reaching areas without premises – such as transport 
lines and remote locations.
Rhodri Williams, Ofcom’s Director in Wales, said: “We’ve seen a dramatic improvement in 
the availability of superfast broadband in recent years and both the Welsh and UK 
governments have plans in place to deliver further improvements.
“However, it’s clear there’s still more work to do, especially with mobile coverage. This is 
why we’re challenging mobile operators to think beyond their current targets to extend 
coverage to everyone. We’re also working closely with the government to providing detailed 
advice on plans for universal, fast broadband.”
International comparisons
Ofcom has also published its International Communications Market Report 2016, which 
compares communications services in 19 major countries.
Among these, the UK has the fifth best availability of broadband services offering 10 Mbit/s 
or above – ahead of almost all European countries, but behind Singapore, Japan, South 
Korea and the Netherlands.
The UK also performs well on the availability of broadband connections involving fibre optic 
cables – such as fibre running to the street cabinet – ranking fifth behind the Netherlands, 
South Korea, Japan and Singapore.
However, Ofcom remains concerned that the UK has low coverage of ‘full fibre’ broadband, 
where cable and fibre lines connect directly to homes and offices. Here the UK ranks 

Pack Page 25

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0027/53676/dcms_letter.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/94740/Text-of-letter-sent-to-MNO-CEOs.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/research-and-data/cmr/cmr15/international


seventeenth out of 19 countries. To address this, Ofcom is requiring BT to allow other 
providers to use its infrastructure to build their own fibre networks, directly to premises.
The UK performs well on prices, ranking second – out of five major European countries, plus 
the USA – for the cheapest communication services. Low prices in the UK were largely 
driven by cheaper mobile phone services, particularly for tariffs that include a high data 
allowance.
Check your mobile and broadband today

People can check whether their mobile reception and home 
broadband connections are giving them the best service, using 
the new version of Ofcom’s app for smartphones and tablets, 
launched today.
The Ofcom Mobile and Broadband Checker now checks the 
performance of the user’s mobile reception, as well as their 
home broadband. If the app finds a problem with either, it will 
explain possible causes and provide practical troubleshooting 
advice.
The app also shows voice, 3G or 4G coverage from all major 
network operators, both indoors and outdoors, at any location in 
the UK – allowing people to compare which network offers the 
best service in places such as the home or office. Broadband 
availability and speed information is available using address-
level data for the first time.
The app is free to download and available for both Apple and 
Android devices from the Apple App Store or Google Play. It is 
also available as a web based version for desktop and laptop 
devices.
The app is available for download in Welsh. This is the first time 
that Ofcom has published an app in Welsh and does so in 

advance of being required to do so under the new Welsh Language Standards which are 
effective from the end of January 2017.
 
 

:: Ofcom Wales/Ofcom Cymru
   2 Caspian Point/2 Pentir Caspian
   Caspian Way/Ffordd Caspian
   Cardiff/Caerdydd  CF10 4DQ 
   029 2046 7200
   www.ofcom.org.uk

Pack Page 26

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/features-and-news/ducts-and-poles
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/ofcom-mobile-broadband-checker/id1179767194?ls=1&mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.org.ofcom.checker
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/phones-telecoms-and-internet/advice-for-consumers/advice/ofcom-checker
http://www.ofcom.org.uk/


CLA Cymru, Inquiry Response: Digital Infrastructure in Wales 

 

 

 

 

 

National Assembly for Wales 

 

Economy, Infrastructure and Skills 

Committee 

 

Inquiry: Digital Infrastructure in Wales 

 

Response from CLA Cymru 

 
 
 
 
Charles de Winton MRICS 
Chartered Surveyor 
CLA Cymru 
Tŷ Cymru 
Presteigne Enterprise Park 
Presteigne 
Powys LD8 2UF 
Tel: 01547 317085 
 
Email: charles.dewinton@cla.org.uk 
 
www.cla.org.uk 

 
Rebecca Williams 
Director, Wales 
CLA Cymru 
Tŷ Cymru 
Presteigne Enterprise Park 
Presteigne 
Powys LD8 2UF 
Tel: 01547 317085 
 
Email: rebecca.williams@cla.org.uk 
 
 

 

Pack Page 27

Agenda Item 4

http://www.cla.org.uk/


CLA Cymru, Inquiry Response: Digital Infrastructure in Wales 

1. One third of the Welsh population lives in rural areas
[1]

. Our rural economy supports some 
459,000 people. In Wales, rural business totals nearly 105,000

[2]
 enterprises. While land-

based businesses form the backbone of these, a broad range of other businesses and sectors 
support the farmers and landowners and are essential for maintaining thriving rural 
communities. The CLA represents around 32,000 members in England and Wales. 

 
2. Digital connectivity has transformed the opportunities available to rural business in recent 

years. It is now possible to locate a business that trades goods and services across the globe 
from the heart of the countryside. However, this potential is only partially fulfilled. Despite a 
major programme of public investment across England and Wales, one in five rural business 
owners cite having to make their own investments in order to get connected. A digital divide 
remains, and while the political will to end it is clear, a continued focus is required. 

 
3. The CLA is not in a position to respond to all the questions outlined, however, we believe that 

the evidence that we have gathered through the dedicated advisory service we offer our 
members will offer a realistic business-focused view from the rural economy about their 
experience of achieving superfast broadband. 

 
Communication and information about the roll-out 
 
4. Over recent years many members have contacted us in frustration with the process of getting 

broadband connection. The high profile campaign communicating the prospect of ‘superfast 
broadband’ has in many instances created expectation, which the delivery and roll-out have 
failed to match. 
 

5. Many of the cases we hear of involve members looking for information as to if and when a 
superfast connection is in the pipeline for their location. Our members recognise the business 
benefits of superfast broadband, are eager for connection and have been willing to make 
private investment or get connected via community fibre network schemes if they are outside 
the reach of the current roll-out programme. However, this investment will only be made 
where it is clear that fibre connection through the current programme is not possible. This 
information is not openly available and not always forthcoming from BT. 

 
6. As we near the end of this roll-out programme, businesses need accurate information about 

the scope and limitations of the roll-out up to July 2017. Detailed roll-out plans and information 
on the areas that will not be covered need to be made available now. The CLA does not want 
to advise members on alternative technologies, to then find that a superfast connection is to 
be made in the near future. Unfortunately, this has happened on a number of occasions to 
date. 

 
A Superfast Cymru successor scheme? 

7. CLA Cymru welcomes the recent announcement by Welsh Government to roll out broadband 
to 100% of Wales. However, we have a number of practical questions that we would welcome 
more information on so that we can continue offering up-to-date advice to our members. For 
example: 
 

a. What does 100% coverage mean? 
b. Does this relate to the geographic spread in Wales, to all business premises or to 

every property in Wales? 
c. What is the timescale for achieving this? 
d. What does this mean for those who have started down the road of community fibre 

networks projects? 
 

8. On a UK level, the Digital Economy Bill currently before Parliament contains a legal right to 
superfast broadband (of at least 10 Megabits per second). This is a major breakthrough, long 
campaigned for by the CLA, but it is it is important to understand how the commitments made 

                                                           
[1]

 In England the same statistic is 20%. 
[2]

 pp 4 - 5, CLA: ‘Standing Up for Rural Business’. 

 

Pack Page 28



CLA Cymru, Inquiry Response: Digital Infrastructure in Wales 

by Welsh Government for 100% coverage will dovetail with the provisions of the Digital 
Economy Bill. 
 

9. These changes demonstrate the political will to deliver the infrastructure needed to deliver the 
minimum service standards and recognition of the understanding that this is as important to 
economic growth in the twenty-first century as the universal postal service was in the 
eighteenth. 
 

10. It is, however, vital that the roll-out now matches this aspiration, and that once established, it is 
regularly reviewed to ensure minimum speeds keep pace with business needs. 

 
Use of alternative technologies 
 

11. Realistically, about 1% of properties in rural Wales will be too remote or uneconomic to 
connect. For these properties, alternative technologies need to be looked at. As an 
organisation, we have investigated a number of different technologies and have members 
who can deliver a range of technological solutions and where appropriate, will work with 
deliverers of these technologies to try and encourage take up. 
 

12. However, until we have clarity about the scope and timescale of this government- funded 
project, we are unable to advise our members about the business benefits of considering 
such technologies. 
 

13. Satellite broadband has been a lifeline technology for many rural businesses. Innovation in 
the technology is ironing out the reliability and operational limitations and it will remain the 
best option for many of the most remote homes and businesses. 

 
14. The use of wireless microwave relay signals between premises has seen significant organic 

growth among rural business-owners and estates. It is significantly more affordable than wire-
based technologies and can continue to be a way for rural businesses to become internet 
suppliers. 

 
15. While satellite and wireless technology are now established alternatives, we are also aware 

that technological development is moving at a pace now and innovative solutions are 
emerging that offer viable and cost-effective alternatives to a fibre based network. 
 

16. We would urge Welsh Government to ensure that any contract to deliver for the final few 
percent of businesses and communities is flexible enough to incorporate and take advantage 
of these emerging technologies. Furthermore, clarity is required as to whether grant aid or 
other support will remain available to support those businesses and communities wishing to 
take forward more innovative solutions to connectivity. 

 
Mobile coverage 
 

17. Mobile coverage in rural areas suffers from years of under-investment. The last 18 months has 
seen a renewed political and industry focus to resolve this. For example EE has committed to 
95% (4G) coverage by the end of 2020 and a legal target is in place to secure 90% (minimum 
2G) coverage of the geographic landmass of the UK by 2017. However, stringent 
consequences must be in place if this legal target is not met. 
 

18. Coverage is patchy in much of Wales, but is particularly so in rural mid-Wales, where 4G is 
currently a distant hope. Feedback from members has also suggested that the coverage may 
even be decreasing on some networks as opposed to increasing. 

 
19. Innovation is the key to tackling the problem. In 2018 the UK Government will be auctioning 

off the 700MHz spectrum and it will be used from 2020. This has major potential for 
increasing the reach of voice and data coverage, but conditions in the licence agreements will 
be key to ensuring it delivers. This is a precursor to the advent of 5G where the infrastructure 
needs in terms of new masts and signal relay points will be significant. By 2030 mobile data 
connections could end the digital divide, but this would require a complete rethink of the 

Pack Page 29



CLA Cymru, Inquiry Response: Digital Infrastructure in Wales 

current urban-first roll-out strategy pursued by the major providers and endorsed by 
Government. 
 

20. CLA Cymru calls on Welsh Government to ensure that properties in the remotest areas of 
rural Wales are not left behind in the future roll-out of the new technology. 

 
Conclusion 
 

21. At the CLA’s recent Rural Business Conference, connectivity was identified as a key theme. 
The universal service obligation, once achieved, will be a significant advantage to rural 
businesses and the productivity opportunities in rural Wales. The technological solutions for 
better infrastructure and faster connections are growing all the time. They present the 
opportunity to provide facilities that are not catching up, but surging ahead of other areas. 
Securing the investment required for the next wave of connections is the challenge and CLA 
Cymru puts forward the following ideas: 
 

 Universal mobile coverage – place stringent conditions on mobile operators as part of 
tenders for the 700MHz spectrum auction taking place in 2018 to ensure maximum mobile 
data coverage in rural areas. 
 

 Promote new approaches to funding connections for the most remote communities – build on 
existing best practice in encouraging home and business owners in a location outside of the 
reach of broadband roll-out schemes to pool vouchers in a way that will fund a better, more 
robust solution for the whole community. In order to help businesses decide whether to 
consider co-financing projects. Openreach and other providers must be more transparent 
and long term in setting out their roll-out plans. 

 

 Ensure local businesses can become internet suppliers – encourage rural business-
owners, who invest in putting in place their own broadband connection such as fibre-to-
property, to become local suppliers using technologies such as local wi-fi networks and 
ensure their position in the market is secure. 
 

 Establish new investment models for better connections – explore new models for rural 
businesses to invest in fibre connections for their own premises. The mobile network 
providers should be encouraged to rent these connections to help them build their data 
networks (especially under 5G). 

 
Real life example from a member in Powys of the challenges in achieving digital connectivity 
 
Mobile connectivity at home: in 2006 = 3-5 bars with Orange/EE; gradually reduced to 0-1 bars, until, in 
2014, it ceased to be viable. User switched to O2. Currently 5 bars of signal. 
 

Mobile connectivity at user’s nearby office: 2014 with O2 = 5 bars. 20/10/16 mast decommissioned 
without warning so no service at all. Weeks 1 to 5 thereafter user wrongly informed that it was a ‘temporary 
outage’. After numerous contacts (phone, emails), in week 6 correct information given and user 
compensated. 
 

Broadband: rural property 3 miles from roadside cabinet. 2006 download speed = 1mbps, upload 
= 0.3 mbps. Frequent outages, sometimes of several weeks’ duration. User repeatedly complained to ISP 
(subsidiary of BT Group plc) with little effect. In 2013 some remedial works carried out with promise of 
undergrounding for new 200M length of copper cable. Undergrounding not carried out. Speeds improved 
to 2mbps and 0.8 mbps. Mixed messages on Superfast Cymru website from mid-2014 to mid-2016, 
depending on whether telephone number or postcode input to search box re. fibre availability. Early spring 
2016, a nearby pole-mounted fibre splitter was installed. In late summer 2016, the website displays 
message saying user can ‘place an order’, however, ISP at first responds that it is not possible to place 
order, then quotes exorbitant figure for FTTP - £7,000 per 10 metres. User contacts BT. Mid-September, 
order placed. Hub received within 1 week. Survey carried out within 2 weeks. Major works – including 
obtaining easement from neighbour, digging 360 metres of trench, laying conduit, installing two man-holes 
etc carried out second half November 2016. 7/12/16: installation of in-house equipment. All works 
estimated to be minimum of 14 man-days. 7/12/16: after commissioning, speeds = 51 mbps download, 10 
mbps upload. 
 

Pack Page 30



 

 

Ff/T 029 2074 7406  C/A 1 Cleeve House,                                                

E  wales.policy@fsb.org.uk   Lambourne Crescent,  

W  fsb.wales   Caerdydd, CF14 5GP  

Swyddfa Gofrestredig | Registered Office:  
National Federation of Self Employed and Small Businesses Limited,  
Sir Frank Whittle Way, Blackpool Business Park, Blackpool, FY4 2FE   
 
Cofrestrwyd yn Lloegr Rhif | Registered in England: 1263540 

 

9 January 2016 
 
Russell George AM 
Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee 
National Assembly for Wales  
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 
 
 
Dear Russell 
 
RE: Digital Infrastructure in Wales 
 
FSB Wales welcomes the opportunity to present its views to the Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee on 
its inquiry into Wales’ digital infrastructure. FSB Wales is the authoritative voice of businesses in Wales. With 
10,000 members, a Welsh Policy Unit, two regional committees and twelve branch committees; FSB Wales is in 
constant contact with business at a grassroots level and undertakes regular online surveys of its members. 
 
A recent FSB survey showed that 99 per cent of small businesses owners view the internet as highly important to 
their business. It is therefore clear that Wales’ digital infrastructure is of vital importance to small businesses and 
the Welsh economy.  
 
FSB Wales is working with Cardiff University to examine superfast broadband in Wales. The findings of the work are 
yet to be published however the Committee may want to consider including Cardiff University academics Dr Dylan 
Henderson, Professor Max Munday and Professor Calvin Jones in their inquiry.  
 
FSB has published a number of reports in this area that will be of interest to the Committee’s inquiry. Most 
recently, we published Reassured, Optimised, Transformed: Driving Digital Demand Among Small Businesses a copy 
of which is attached to this correspondence. The report explored a number of themes around how businesses use 
digital infrastructure and the barriers to greater uptake.  
 
How firms use digital infrastructure 
 
Our UK-wide research suggests that small businesses fall into three categories in relation to their use of digital 
infrastructure: 

- Business Reassured – Firms that tend to have less data heavy but frequent basic tasks. Issues around 
reliability of service rather than speeds are seen as important.  

- Business Optimised – Firms that rely on broadband to carry out frequent, relatively data heavy tasks such 
as online sales. Download speeds are important here in securing productivity gains. 

- Business Transformation – Firms that are the most digitally advanced. Being online provides a springboard 
for new and different products that helps the business expand.  

 
Under this broad categorisation, the incentive to adopt and make best use of digital infrastructure will vary. This 
distinction also recognises the different needs and expectations firms have in relation to broadband and digital 

Pack Page 31



 

 

Ff/T 029 2074 7406  C/A 1 Cleeve House,                                                

E  wales.policy@fsb.org.uk   Lambourne Crescent,  

W  fsb.wales   Caerdydd, CF14 5GP  

Swyddfa Gofrestredig | Registered Office:  
National Federation of Self Employed and Small Businesses Limited,  
Sir Frank Whittle Way, Blackpool Business Park, Blackpool, FY4 2FE   
 
Cofrestrwyd yn Lloegr Rhif | Registered in England: 1263540 

 

infrastructure. The Committee may want to consider how each of these categories relate to the support currently 
provided by Welsh Government. 
 
More generally, our research found that: 

- Almost all business owners (99 per cent) rate the internet as highly important to their business.  
- Half of small businesses (51 per cent) offer goods and services online, with an additional 15 per cent 

planning to do so in the near future.  
- The take up of fibre products among small businesses closely tracks the residential market at 27 per cent.  
- 46 per cent of all small businesses said they would like to upgrade to these services in future.  
- Mobile phones are increasingly becoming a key element of connectivity for small business owners and 

further work needs to take place in integrating mobile technology into their existing business models.  
 
Barriers  
 
Our report identifies a number of barriers for small businesses in making the most of digital infrastructure. Firstly, 
many businesses feel that their current speeds are sufficient for their business needs now and in the foreseeable 
future. These businesses are satisfied with the status quo and may require further information and challenge to 
make the most of digital opportunities.  
 
The rollout of infrastructure is still a concern. Ofcom’s latest figures for 2016 suggest 85 per cent of premises in 
Wales can access superfast or higher speed broadband. While this is an improvement on previous years, it masks 
significant geographical variations with many rural areas still being unable to benefit. In relation to mobile 
coverage, Wales currently has the lowest proportion of outdoor 2G coverage, with many areas only able to access 
one or two network providers, limiting competition. Wales also had the lowest proportion of premises with outdoor 
4G coverage from one or more mobile networks in May 2016 at 90.1%.  
 
Quality of service issues are also affecting small business as consumers. Many small businesses do not have 
dedicated IT or telecoms experts. This frequently results in a lack of confidence in dealing with the market. Quality 
of service issues can also lead to some small businesses disengaging from the digital agenda.  
 
Recommendations 
 
To increase the use of digital infrastructure among small businesses in Wales, the following recommendations 
should be considered: 

- Encourage the wider business community through organisations such as Business Wales to support moving 
beyond the status quo in terms of digital usage. This should include the integration of mobile services. 

- Improve access to broadband and mobile infrastructure in Wales.  
- Consider introducing a broadband code of practice for small businesses. This would recognise broadband 

providers that produce clear information and transparent download speeds. This should link to work 
currently being undertaken by Ofcom around a more general Broadband Code of Practice.  

- Ensure Business Wales has sufficient support around improving the knowledge and skills to boost 
confidence when dealing with the broadband market.  

 
Please do not hesitate to get in touch should you require any further information.  
 

Pack Page 32



 

 

Ff/T 029 2074 7406  C/A 1 Cleeve House,                                                

E  wales.policy@fsb.org.uk   Lambourne Crescent,  

W  fsb.wales   Caerdydd, CF14 5GP  

Swyddfa Gofrestredig | Registered Office:  
National Federation of Self Employed and Small Businesses Limited,  
Sir Frank Whittle Way, Blackpool Business Park, Blackpool, FY4 2FE   
 
Cofrestrwyd yn Lloegr Rhif | Registered in England: 1263540 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
Janet Jones 
Wales Policy Chair 
Federation of Small Businesses Wales 
 
Attached: FSB - Reassured, Optimised, Transformed: Driving Digital Demand Among Small Businesses 
 
 

 

Pack Page 33



Federation of Small Businesses report - Reassured, Optimised, Transformed: 

Driving digital demand among small businesses 

http://www.fsb.org.uk/docs/default-source/Publications/reports/fsb-telecoms-report---september-

2015(2).pdf?sfvrsn=0 

 

Pack Page 34

http://www.fsb.org.uk/docs/default-source/Publications/reports/fsb-telecoms-report---september-2015(2).pdf?sfvrsn=0
http://www.fsb.org.uk/docs/default-source/Publications/reports/fsb-telecoms-report---september-2015(2).pdf?sfvrsn=0


Submission from thinkbroadband.com relating to roll-out and take-up of 
superfast broadband in Wales

Submitted as evidence to the National Assembly’s Economy, Infrastructure and 
Skills Committee.

The data contained in this document was sourced in the period of 28th November to 8th 
December 2016 and as the roll-outs are still underway there will have been further roll-
out. Generally this means a change nationally of 0.4% each month, the latest data is 
always available at https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/wales 

The tracking of availability is based on all the fixed line providers, which generally 
comprises Openreach, Virgin Media and Hyperoptic in Wales. In addition to the 
availability we also match a number of years of observed speed test results from the 
public against the various areas of Wales. 

This means we can give insight into coverage, the speeds people receive from the faster 
services and an estimate of take-up.

The two main views of Wales are the degrees of superfast coverage by local authority 
and Westminster constituency. The constituency level view with relatively uniform 
population size also help to give some idea of the areas of high population density.

Mid and West Wales are the two areas lagging, but these are also the areas where 
superfast coverage was low or non-existent a few years ago.

This simpler map highlights the levels of change in the 
last 12 months across Wales and is useful to highlight that the roll-outs while not 
uniform across the areas of Wales is targeting the areas where coverage was lowest.

Pack Page 35

Agenda Item 5

https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/wales


One issue we have learnt is that people sometimes miss construe the uniform colouring 
of the council and constituency areas, for example with some areas if you a service is 
delivered to the two major towns of an area you find people in the rural areas dispute 
the coverage levels. Therefore it is often proven better to show a dot per postcode 
format such as:

The combined analysis of where superfast broadband is available and speed 
tests demonstrating people have taken up the service shows an observed take-
up of 32%. 

In table form coverage as of 7th December for Welsh Parliamentary 
constituencies with speed test results from Q3/2016 and the Q4 results should 
be available the first week of January. The rank is based on the full 650 UK set 
of constituencies.

Rank
(Based 
on 
superfas
t 
coverage
, over 24 
Mbps)

Constituency More Detail Superf
ast 
(Over 
24 
Mbps - 
UK)
(% of 
premis
es 
covere
d)

Superfast 
(Over 30 
Mbps - 
EU)
(% of 
premises 
covered)

Observed 
Average 
Download 
Speed 
Q3 2016 
(Mbps)

Observed 
Average 
Upload 
Speed 
Q3 2016 
(Mbps)

39 Rhondda W07000052 99.1% 98.1% 18.6 4.2

55 Cardiff West W07000079 98.9% 98.8% 31.3 4.7

108 Blaenau Gwent W07000072 98.4% 97.8% 17.7 3.9

Pack Page 36

https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/rhondda,W07000052
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/cardiff-west,W07000079
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/blaenau-gwent,W07000072


Rank
(Based 
on 
superfas
t 
coverage
, over 24 
Mbps)

Constituency More Detail Superf
ast 
(Over 
24 
Mbps - 
UK)
(% of 
premis
es 
covere
d)

Superfast 
(Over 30 
Mbps - 
EU)
(% of 
premises 
covered)

Observed 
Average 
Download 
Speed 
Q3 2016 
(Mbps)

Observed 
Average 
Upload 
Speed 
Q3 2016 
(Mbps)

116 Swansea East W07000048 98.3% 98.2% 29.3 5.1

174 Swansea West W07000047 97.7% 97.5% 31.0 4.7

197 Cardiff South and Penarth W07000080 97.3% 97.2% 29.1 5.0

208 Cardiff North W07000051 97.2% 96.4% 27.4 4.9

223 Pontypridd W07000075 96.8% 96.0% 20.1 4.5

237 Merthyr Tydfil and Rhymney W07000071 96.6% 95.3% 18.1 3.9

246 Cynon Valley W07000070 96.5% 95.4% 18.0 4.1

250 Cardiff Central W07000050 96.4% 96.1% 28.8 4.5

251 Islwyn W07000077 96.4% 94.6% 18.7 4.2

262 Caerphilly W07000076 96.2% 94.6% 18.8 4.1

268 Torfaen W07000053 96.1% 94.8% 20.9 4.1

278 Newport West W07000056 95.9% 95.5% 27.8 4.8

291 Aberavon W07000049 95.9% 95.2% 31.2 4.9

295 Newport East W07000055 95.8% 95.5% 24.7 4.3

317 Bridgend W07000073 95.5% 94.6% 19.5 4.6

338 Alyn and Deeside W07000043 95.1% 94.1% 18.5 3.9

369 Wrexham W07000044 94.2% 93.4% 17.0 3.7

381 Ogmore W07000074 93.9% 90.9% 16.5 3.6

405 Llanelli W07000045 93.1% 91.7% 16.5 3.7

411 Neath W07000069 93.1% 92.0% 23.5 3.9

439 Vale of Clwyd W07000060 91.9% 90.9% 18.2 3.8

451 Vale of Glamorgan W07000078 91.3% 90.6% 24.4 4.0

453 Gower W07000046 91.1% 90.3% 22.2 4.0

Pack Page 37

https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/swansea-east,W07000048
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/swansea-west,W07000047
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/cardiff-south-and-penarth,W07000080
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/cardiff-north,W07000051
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/pontypridd,W07000075
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/merthyr-tydfil-and-rhymney,W07000071
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/cynon-valley,W07000070
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/cardiff-central,W07000050
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/islwyn,W07000077
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/caerphilly,W07000076
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/torfaen,W07000053
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/newport-west,W07000056
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/aberavon,W07000049
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/newport-east,W07000055
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/bridgend,W07000073
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/alyn-and-deeside,W07000043
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/wrexham,W07000044
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/ogmore,W07000074
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/llanelli,W07000045
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/neath,W07000069
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/vale-of-clwyd,W07000060
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/vale-of-glamorgan,W07000078
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/gower,W07000046


Rank
(Based 
on 
superfas
t 
coverage
, over 24 
Mbps)

Constituency More Detail Superf
ast 
(Over 
24 
Mbps - 
UK)
(% of 
premis
es 
covere
d)

Superfast 
(Over 30 
Mbps - 
EU)
(% of 
premises 
covered)

Observed 
Average 
Download 
Speed 
Q3 2016 
(Mbps)

Observed 
Average 
Upload 
Speed 
Q3 2016 
(Mbps)

520 Aberconwy W07000058 86.6% 85.1% 15.9 3.5

522 Arfon W07000057 86.5% 84.1% 16.6 3.6

545 Delyn W07000042 84.4% 82.6% 17.7 3.6

575 Clwyd West W07000059 81.2% 80.2% 15.1 3.3

587 Ynys Mon W07000041 79.7% 78.0% 16.6 3.5

590 Monmouth W07000054 79.6% 77.9% 15.8 3.5

597 Preseli Pembrokeshire W07000065 78.6% 76.7% 16.3 3.4

598 Carmarthen West and South 
Pembrokeshire 

W07000066 78.4% 76.9% 15.9 3.5

609 Clwyd South W07000062 76.5% 74.3% 14.8 3.2

616 Dwyfor Meirionnydd W07000061 74.0% 72.1% 16.8 3.6

636 Brecon and Radnorshire W07000068 63.5% 62.1% 12.5 2.5

637 Carmarthen East and Dinefwr W07000067 62.5% 59.8% 11.8 2.7

638 Montgomeryshire W07000063 62.1% 60.5% 12.6 2.5

646 Ceredigion W07000064 58.1% 56.1% 14.1 3.1

One very important aspect of the SuperfastCymru roll-out is the availability of fibre to 
the premises this is running at 1.4% currently and rises to 1.56% once you factor in the 
presence of Hyperoptic. We are aware of a large amount of Openreach FTTP that is in 
the build stages, and this is likely to be in the order of another 2-3% which based on our 
analysis would put Wales well past the 90% superfast mark, and ensure the original goal 
of 96% fibre based broadband availability was met.

The biggest challenge appears to be convincing people that the project is delivering, and 
as those who are still to benefit are becoming increasingly vocal ensuring clear 
communication as to when they will see an improvement is important.

Additionally there are many who may be confused e.g. the talk is all about superfast 
broadband, but there are plenty who would benefit from upgrading from slow ADSL 
services to VDSL2 even when it can only deliver 10 to 15 Mbps.

Pack Page 38

https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/aberconwy,W07000058
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/arfon,W07000057
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/delyn,W07000042
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/clwyd-west,W07000059
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/ynys-mon,W07000041
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/monmouth,W07000054
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/preseli-pembrokeshire,W07000065
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/carmarthen-west-and-south-pembrokeshire,W07000066
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/clwyd-south,W07000062
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/dwyfor-meirionnydd,W07000061
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/brecon-and-radnorshire,W07000068
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/carmarthen-east-and-dinefwr,W07000067
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/montgomeryshire,W07000063
https://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/ceredigion,W07000064


Is Wales Connected - Digital Infrastructure in Wales

Response to the Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee Inquiry

by Atos

1.1 Introduction

1.1 Improvements to digital access can create opportunities for the people of 
Wales to gain an advantage in the global economy and to build a more 
inclusive, better-connected and stronger society.  Outside of London, 
Wales has the fastest-growing digital industry in Britain. The IT Sector in 
Wales employs around 24,000 people and is predicted to add £1.5 billion 
to the economy over the next five years.  But more still needs to be done 
to ensure that access to world-class digital technology is available in all of 
our communities; to enable our citizens to develop digital skills and 
awareness and allow them to access the full benefits of the digital 
economy.

1.2 Atos is pleased to offer its support to this inquiry by the Economy, 
Infrastructure and Skills committee and would be delighted to attend a 
meeting of the committee to provide further details, if invited.  Our 
contribution will firstly consider the requirements for digital access and 
the key opportunities it provides. We will then focus on how alternative 
technologies could be used to extend digital access by improving or 
supplementing existing broadband and mobile coverage.  Finally, we will 
summarise other key factors that need to be considered to ensure that 
investments in digital infrastructure are successful.

2 Demanding Digital

2.1 The requirement for digital access is an increasingly critical factor for 
businesses, public sector bodies and individuals in Wales.
 For business, it offers the ability to access global as well as national 

and local markets; interact rapidly and efficiently with customers 
and suppliers; gain vital information and connect to networks of 
support and opportunity.

 Public sector bodies require wide-scale digital access in order to 
provide progressive, high value services to the citizens they serve 
but also to enable them to connect and share vital information and 
extract greater value from the data they hold; from more effective 
demand management, to an increased use of data analytics to 
evaluate and improve services. 

Pack Page 39



 Individuals stand to benefit from the services and products that 
business and the public sector can provide digitally. Many people no 
longer use traditional home phones and receive most of their 
services through mobile devices or have abandoned traditional 
media in favour of digital on-demand services. For others, the 
challenge is, more importantly, to achieve digital inclusion so that 
they are not deprived of the benefits of access to digital services.

In all of these cases there is a common factor, which is the need for 
continuous availability of internet access at a wide range of locations (or 
whilst mobile) with the quality and reliability to make digital services 
usable and acceptable. 

2.2 For many areas in Wales, the availability of 3G & 4G mobile coverage and 
the delivery of superfast broadband is patchy and incomplete.  Sadly, this 
is often the case in areas where social deprivation, remoteness or lack of 
transport infrastructure makes digital inclusion all the more essential.  
The investments in Superfast Cymru and pressures on mobile providers 
have established a baseline of service across Wales but have not supplied 
access to all the areas that need it most.  To achieve full digital inclusion 
for all communities in Wales will require a more thoughtful and 
innovative approach to overcome the challenges of geography and 
demographics within realistic budgetary constraints.

3 Applying Innovations in Technology

3.1 The technology options available to support digital access offer a range 
of possibilities to suit different geographic, demographic and economic 
needs.  Table 1 provides a summary of the principal options, their 
approximate UK coverage and a comparison of performance and cost: 

Table 1. Digital access - technology options

Pack Page 40



3.2 There is no single technology that ideally suits all scenarios.  For 
example, achieving 100% coverage of 4G (or even 3G) would be 
challenged by the mountainous terrain in some regions of Wales.  
Similarly, the cost of delivering Satcom access versus its limited 
performance means that it might only be suitable for the most remote or 
inaccessible locations and may not suit some business uses at all.  In 
general terms the suitability of all these options can be summarised as 
follows: 
 Cellular 4G /LTE - Becoming more widely available and affordable 

but still sparse in rural areas. Dependence on a single operator in 
many areas has risks but technology solutions can provide 
mitigation.

 Cellular 3G – Low data rates, but currently acceptable for most uses.  
Similar risks to 4G, but extender & multi-operator remedies are 
available.

 Satcom – Useful in very remote regions but still the highest cost for 
low data rates. Support to mobile users depends on Wi-fi. 

 Fibre/DSL - Availability of infrastructure restricts choice at many 
locations.  May not be immediately available or economically 
feasible for remote locations. Support to mobile users depends on 
Wi-fi. 

 Radio – Enables extension of other services from existing locations.  
A more flexible option for some terrain. Support to mobile users 
depends on Wi-fi. 

3.3 With a range of options available, any of which could be most suitable 
in certain circumstances, the innovation challenge becomes “How to 
select the right technology for each location.”  This requires a 
comprehensive analysis of regional cellular mobile coverage aligned to a 
detailed understanding of domestic and business needs, especially in 
hard-to-reach locations.  A methodology or set of rules should be 
developed and applied to ensure that the best technology is selected for 
each set of circumstances and that a sound business case exists to 
support the full range of investments.

3.4 In some cases isolated or remote communities may have need of 
composite solutions (e.g. Fibre connections extended by Radio links).  
Once again, innovative thinking will be required to look at all 
permutations and possibilities to arrive at a solution that offers digital 
inclusion at an acceptable cost.  

Pack Page 41



4    Optimising Investment
   

4.1 Digital access also requires the end-user – whether they are citizens, 
business owners, employees or volunteers – to have the skills and 
available devices to make use of the infrastructure.  Therefore, a key 
component of further programmes should be an analysis of the 
effectiveness of initiatives to provide training and access to technology 
for users, and commitment to further investment in these areas where 
needed.

4.2 Finally, and critically, it is essential that plans for improvements to 
digital infrastructure are linked into an overarching digital strategy that 
clearly defines how the public sector will deliver digital service 
transformation and the specific economic benefits it will offer to the 
private sector.  

5 Summary

5.1 In this paper we have summarised some of the key points regarding the 
justification for extended digital access, the main technology options and 
the best approach that Atos believes could be taken.  The most critical 
point, is that to extract value from further investment for the individuals, 
organisations and businesses that need it most requires an innovative, 
holistic approach based on a clear digital strategy with a flexible view of 
all of the technology options available.

Mark Donovan

Client Executive, Atos Wales

Atos is a business technology partner with firm roots and an extensive presence 
in Wales. We are committed to helping our partners in the Welsh Government, 
NHS Wales, many educational institutions and other public sector bodies, as well 
as the private sector, with cost effective solutions to deliver their ambitions in 
digital transformation, big data, cyber security, and technological innovation.

For further details of our Digital Vision for Wales, click on the link or go to: 
http://uk.atos.net/en-uk/home/your-business/government/government-in-wales/digital-vision-
for-wales.html

Pack Page 42

http://uk.atos.net/en-uk/home/your-business/government/government-in-wales/digital-vision-for-wales.html


Finance Wales

28 November 2016

Dear Finance Wales,

Thank you for attending the committee on 9 November 2016 to allow us to 
scrutinise your annual report. 

During the meeting Mr Thorley offered to provide the committee with a note on 
the overall return on investment on the four exits which (overall) made a loss. 

The session raised a number of questions on which we would welcome further 
clarity, and we have also taken the liberty of making some recommendations to 
Finance Wales, which we will also share with the Cabinet Secretary for the 
Economy and Infrastructure.

Pack Page 43

Agenda Item 6.1



Questions

Capital funding

Mr Thorley described Welsh Government funding as “the anchor” in terms of 
future capital funding sources. 

We would welcome greater clarity, in due course, on what this will mean.

Risk Management

Given the greater capacity to lending envisaged for the Development Bank, there 
would also be a greater exposure to risk for the Welsh Government.

While normal prudential requirements do not apply to Finance Wales, we would 
welcome further information on what consideration is being given to managing 
the exposure to risk. 

E.g. would bad debt be underwritten by the Welsh Government, or would some 
form of capital requirement to foster enhanced risk management be applied?

Help to Buy scheme

This scheme is underpinned by a repayable loan (to HM Treasury). A loan, we 
assume, that is ultimately underwritten by the Welsh Government. We would 
welcome a note on the terms of this loan, and an annual update on progress to 
repay it.

Pensions

We noted that the rise in the remuneration of the highest paid director in 2015-
16 were inflated by pension contributions; and that 30% of the current Finance 
Wales staff are in the same scheme. Can you assure us that the business case for 
the Development Bank has considered this actuarial risk?

Pack Page 44



Recommendations

Reporting process

In response to our questions about the losses reported for 2014-15, you were 
able to assure us that this was not a fair reflection of the financial health of the 
organisation. 

Kevin O’Leary said: “I don’t believe the committee should be concerned by that 
loss… Our accounts are not a good entry in to understanding Finance Wales’ 
performance.”

Given that the current method of reporting is not giving a clear picture, we 
recommend that Finance Wales considers – while acknowledging its statutory 
reporting obligations – how it can present its annual accounts in a way which 
gives a clearer picture of the organisation’s performance and allows the Welsh 
taxpayer to see whether their money has been invested in a way that produces 
benefits. This might be part of, or in addition to, the annual accounts.

Self-financing 

The committee posed a series of questions around the ability of Finance Wales to 
move to a self-financing model without Welsh Government grant-in-aid. You told 
us that this was dependent on raising the level of funds being invested, so that 
the associated fees were then sufficient to cover the organisation’s costs.

We note that there are risks in moving to a self-funding model and will raise this 
with the Cabinet Secretary.

Relocation risk

The transition from Finance Wales’ Cardiff HQ, to a Development Bank for Wales 
headquartered in North East Wales seems to present a risk – common with all 
relocation enterprises – that staff would not wish to move. We appreciate that the 
business case is not yet public, but we are clear that the risk of losing staff, and 

Pack Page 45



the costs involved in recruitment and/or relocation packages need to be factored 
in to the business plan.

In due course, we would appreciate greater information on how the relocation risk 
is being assessed; what the costs might be; and the options chosen to mitigate 
these. 

Yours Sincerely,

 

Russell George

Chair, Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee

Pack Page 46



Russel George 

National Assembly for Wales 

Economy and Infrastructure Committee 

Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

December 2nd 2016 

Dear Mr George 

 

Thank you for your letter dated 28th November 2016. Our responses are given below.  

 

 

Capital Funding 

Mr Thorley described Welsh Government funding as “the anchor” in terms of future capital 

funding sources.  

We would welcome greater clarity, in due course, on what this will mean. 

 

At present Finance Wales receives its fund monies from ERDF and Welsh Government. In 

light of Brexit, we feel that it may be necessary to investigate what other sources of funding 

could be available, while at the same time working closely with Welsh Government to assist 

in the delivery of their key economic objectives.  

 

 

Risk Management 

Given the greater capacity to lending envisaged for the Development Bank, there would 

also be a greater exposure to risk for the Welsh Government. 

While normal prudential requirements do not apply to Finance Wales, we would welcome 

further information on what consideration is being given to managing the exposure to risk.  

E.g. would bad debt be underwritten by the Welsh Government, or would some form of 

capital requirement to foster enhanced risk management be applied? 

 

The increased investment and lending activity envisaged by the Development Bank will be 

undertaken through a number of distinct funds targeted to address specific areas of market 

Pack Page 47

Agenda Item 6.2

mailto:info@financewales.co.uk
http://financewales.co.uk/
mailto:gwyb@cyllidcymru.co.uk
http://cyllidcymru.co.uk/


failure. A key consideration when developing new funds is defining their risk appetite. For 

example, investments in early stage, technology businesses inherently carry a higher risk 

than does lending to established businesses to fund their growth aspirations.  

  

Like Finance Wales before it, the Development Bank will agree in advance individual fund 

parameters including risk appetite, and hence forecast losses and returns, with Welsh 

Government. Thereafter, individual investments will be closely monitored through robust 

portfolio management procedures and will be summarised in a comprehensive suite of 

monthly management information reported to the Development Bank Board. Inter alia, this 

will include comparison of actual bad debts with those originally envisaged. The 

performance of each fund will also be reported quarterly to Welsh Government. Proactive 

tracking of fund performance will, with Welsh Government agreement, enable fund 

parameters to be varied during the life of the fund. Such variations may be appropriate 

where fund performance is off plan, or in response to changing macro-economic 

circumstances. The business plan for the Development Bank includes provision for modest 

recruitment activity to ensure that portfolio management is resourced effectively.  

  

Accordingly, whilst bad debts will impact fund performance and, therefore, returns to Welsh 

Government, this will be factored in to the development of new funds. 

 

 

Help to Buy Scheme 

This scheme is underpinned by a repayable loan (to HM Treasury). A loan, we assume, that 

is ultimately underwritten by the Welsh Government. We would welcome a note on the 

terms of this loan, and an annual update on progress to repay it. 

 

The HTBW scheme has two financial transaction reserve loans as follows: 

  

HTBW Fund I – total loan £174.5m (fully drawn) Investment start date Jan 2014. 

Investment end date approx. Dec 2016 

HTBW Fund II – total loan £290.0m (£26.3m drawn) Investment start date Oct 2016. 

Investment end date approx. Dec 2021. 

  

Pack Page 48



The HTBW shared equity loan investments made by the HTBW funds are interest free for 

the first 5 years. The term is up to 25 years and capital is only returned on a sale of the 

property or a refinance. Each loan can be up to a maximum of 20% of the purchase price 

(called HTBW’s equity percentage), capped at £60,000. The amount of capital received 

back is equal to HTBW’s original equity percentage times the sales price/valuation at the 

time of repayment. So the success of the scheme will depend on how the property market 

moves over the period of the scheme. 

  

The Fund I loan is due to start being repaid from 2018/19 with the final repayment in 

2040/41. The loan is interest free and only the original capital is to be repaid. The ramp up 

of repayment is end loaded and starts to ramp up from 2033. To date HTBW has received 

51 repayments totalling some £1.5m with a net profit of £50k. The positive news is that this 

amount of repayments already received from borrowers nearly covers the first 3 years of 

repayments of FTR to 2021. 

  

The Fund II loan is due to start being repaid from 2018/19 with the final repayment in 

2043/44. The loan is interest free and only the original capital is to be repaid. The ramp up 

of repayment is end loaded and starts to ramp up from 2036. HTBW has just started 

investing this fund with c. £200k invested to date.  

 

The FTR repayment risk is the liability of WG not HTBW. 

  

The scheme is operating well, based on stakeholder feedback, and is tracking slightly ahead 

of the forecast investment run rate. 

 

 

Pensions 

We noted that the rise in the remuneration of the highest paid director in 2015-16 was 

inflated by pension contributions; and that 30% of the current Finance Wales staff are in 

the same scheme. Can you assure us that the business case for the Development Bank has 

considered this actuarial risk? 

 

The significant cost shown in the 2015/16 accounts are reflective of a combination of 

several factors: 

Pack Page 49



  

a)  Which pension scheme the individual is contributing to 

b)  Length of service 

c)  Age 

d)      Salary 

e)       Circumstance where the individual leaves the organisation as part of a restructuring. 

 

Detailed consideration has been given to any individuals who might have more than one of 

these characteristics. 

 

None would trigger any liability of anything approaching this size. The six individuals, who 

are of or are approaching the age where a reorganisation might trigger access to pension, 

do not have significant service and/or salary to create a significant cost. 

In the committee hearing I promised to revert on a specific question posed by Vikki Howells 

AM in relation to equity investments exited by Finance Wales in the last financial year. 

Of the 4 equity exits in 2105/16, 2 were loss-making which resulted in an average multiple 

of 0.58 or a loss of £454,850. Taken in isolation, the performance of these assets could be 

viewed as a cause for concern however this highlights the difficulty of viewing the 

performance of an equity fund in light of a single asset or as part of an annual Profit and 

Loss account. To understand fund performance, taking a longer term view is appropriate in 

order to avoid the issue of limited data misrepresenting realisations as either negative or 

positive. 

 

Finance Wales equity funds follow a 5 year investment period followed by a realisation 

period with fund performance monitored over the same timeframe. In the last 3 years 

Finance Wales equity investments have performed as follows: 

 

Year Multiple Profit/Loss 

14/15 1.58 £4,616,120 

15/16 0.51 (454,850) 

16/17 YTD 2.20 £3,174,956 

 

Pack Page 50



In relation to the other comments in your letter where you wish to be updated in due 

course, we appreciate the interest of the Committee and will keep you informed of our 

progress. 

With kind regards, 

Giles Thorley 

 

 

Chief Executive 

 

Pack Page 51



Ken Skates AC/AM 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi a’r Seilwaith 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Russell George AM  
Chair - Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
SeneddEIS@assembly.wales 
 
          15 December 2016 
 
 
 
 
Dear Russell 
 
I would like to thank the committee for allowing me the opportunity to provide evidence 

for your inquiry into the National Infrastructure Commission for Wales.  
 
At the session I said I would provide the committee with a paper outlining our 

consideration of models for the commission. This is attached as an annex to this letter.  
 
I hope the committee will find this paper useful and look forward to reading the report 

when it is published. 
 
 

Yours sincerely  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Ken Skates AC/AM 

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi a’r Seilwaith 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 

Pack Page 52

Agenda Item 6.3

mailto:SeneddEIS@assembly.wales


ECONOMY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND SKILLS COMMITTEE 
NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION FOR WALES 

CONSIDERATION OF MODELS FOR NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
COMMISSION FOR WALES 

 
 

1 

 

 

Introduction 

1.1. The Welsh Government is committed to establishing a National Infrastructure 

Commission for Wales to provide expert, independent advice on strategic 

infrastructure issues and priorities. 

In deciding the initial status and remit of  a commission for Wales, we looked 
at current models for infrastructure bodies in the UK and internationally.  

Our programme for Government, ‘Taking Wales Forward’, sets out how the 

Welsh Government will build a more confident, more equal, better skilled and 

more resilient Wales. It includes an ambitious set out policies which will see 

the country become better prosperous and secure, healthy and active, 

ambitious and learning, and united and connected. 

 

1.2. A key part of fulfilling this ambition will be to move towards a better informed, 

longer-term strategy of investment in infrastructure which enshrines the 

principles of the Well-Being of Future Generations Act. This investment will be 

crucial to ensure the infrastructure that connects people and communities is fit 

for purpose, and is looking towards the needs of tomorrow, as well as today.  

 

 

1.3. Many administrations have established bodies to provide expert, independent 

advice on infrastructure issues. The status and governance of such bodies 

varies. However their common key role is to support a move away from 

destructive stop-start investment, viewed as a product of political short-

termism, to a more productive longer-term investment strategy which reflects 

a stronger, stable consensus enabled by such expert, independent advice. 

 

Key principles  
 

2.1. Our thinking on the type of model that would initially be the most beneficial for 

Wales has been outcome focused and based on a number of key elements:  

2.2. :  

i. the commission needs to support the goals and principles of 

working established under the Wellbeing of Future Generations 

Wales) Act  

ii. it needs to have integrity and be capable of giving expert and 

independent advice to Welsh Ministers which is representative 

of the needs and views of society as a whole 

Pack Page 53



ECONOMY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND SKILLS COMMITTEE 
NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION FOR WALES 

CONSIDERATION OF MODELS FOR NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
COMMISSION FOR WALES 

 
 

2 

 

iii. the commission should recognise budgetary constraints, as well 

as the government’s commitment to keep new legislation to the 

minimum,  

iv. the commission’s governance and funding arrangements should 

be proportionate to the added value it might offer to establishing 

a stable, longer-term infrastructure strategy for Wales.  

v. its advice needs to complement the approach to developing the 
new National Development Framework Development for Wales 
for strategic terrestrial planning under the last Planning Act  

vi. the commission’s work, based on expertise and independence, 
should supporta faster, more streamlined decision making and 
consenting framework by reflecting a consensus of the needs 
and views of society as a whole and  accelerating growth 
 

2.3. These principles were then tested as part of an assessment of other models 

from various administrations in order to establish the best fit for Wales. 

Particular focus has been placed on the remits, membership, expertise, scope 

(including fiscal scope) and the benefits of a commission measured against its 

operating costs.  

  

UK and International Models  
 
3.3. A number of different models were identified for consideration. Bboth UK and 
international models exist in environments which are significantly different to Wales. 
Major differing factors include geographical constraints, political landscape, devolved 
settlements, legislative frameworks and financial resources and accounting.  
 
3.4. The models under consideration included:  
 
Name Status Remit 

UK 
Infrastructure 
Commission 

Advisory  
Non-
Statutory 

 Initially established in non-statutory/shadow 
form  

 From January 2017 will be re-established as 
a non-statutory executive agency 
accountable to the Treasury  

 Mandate to analyse UK 30 year infrastructure  

 Includes non-devolved cross border 
infrastructure.  

 No statutory remit over devolved 
infrastructure, but can look at devolved needs 
on request 

 Infrastructure within the scope includes 
energy, transport, water and sewage, waste, 
flood defences and digital communications.  

Pack Page 54



ECONOMY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND SKILLS COMMITTEE 
NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION FOR WALES 

CONSIDERATION OF MODELS FOR NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
COMMISSION FOR WALES 

 
 

3 

 

 Will not cover ‘social’ infrastructure - 
hospitals, schools and prisons etc .  

 Hard fiscal limit set by HM Treasury.  

 Long term infrastructure plans to be laid 
before parliament 

 To be comprised of a chair, commissioners, 
CEO and staffed office.  

The Scottish 
Futures Trust 

Delivery 
Arms-
Length 
Company 

 Independent, arms-length company 

established by the Scottish Government 

 In 2015/16 estimated £146m of net benefits 

and savings was attributed to the SFT. 

 Operational budget in 2016/17 set at £10.3m. 

Trust comprises 70 infrastructure financing, 

procurement and delivery professionals 

 Scope includes housing, low carbon, 

education and digital.  

 Alternative funding methods include non-

profit distributing, housing joint ventures and 

incremental tax financing alongside local 

authorities.  

 Part of justification for model was finance 

particular infrastructure projects off of 

government balance books. 

 Recent changes to Eurostat rules have 

resulted in this borrowing debt being 

attributed to government 

  

Northern 
Ireland’s 
Strategic 
Investment 
Board 

Advisory 
Statutory 

 Company limited by guarantee 

 Established through secondary legislation.  

 Owned by the First Minister and financed 

from within departmental expenditure limits. 

 Advises government, local authorities and 

other bodies  

 Four key responsibilities are to prepare 10 

year investment strategy, support public 

sector partners through providing expert staff, 

own asset management unit; and champion 

reform  

 Activities guided by the incumbent’s 

government’s policy goals  

Pack Page 55



ECONOMY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND SKILLS COMMITTEE 
NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION FOR WALES 

CONSIDERATION OF MODELS FOR NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
COMMISSION FOR WALES 

 
 

4 

 

 Works within budgetary constraints of an 

investment pipeline. 

Infrastructure 
Australia 

Statutory 
Advisory 

 Established through primary legislation  

 Advises Government and audits nationally 

significant infrastructure 

 Develops 15 year rolling Infrastructure Plan 

 Scope includes transport, energy, 

communications and water.  

 Independent of government  

 Ministers issue a Statement of Expectations 

which sets the priorities of the government to 

be taken into account 

 Does not fund or deliver projects  

 Board comprised of a chair and 12 members  

New Zealand 
National 
Infrastructure 
Unit 

Internal 
Government 

 Established in 2009  

 Based within the treasury department of the 

government.  

 Responsible for developing and monitoring 

20-year infrastructure plan, establishing 

cross-government frameworks for 

infrastructure project appraisal and asset 

management; and providing support to 

National Infrastructure Advisory Board. 

 Board comprised of members from the 

private sector and outside central government 

in advisory capacity.  

 Key role of board to engage with the private 

sector, local government and other 

stakeholders 

 Focus of NZNIU approach is to maximize 

opportunities for Public Private Partnerships 

(PPP). 

Singapore 
Urban 
Redevelopment 
Authority 
(SURA) 

Internal, 
Government 

 Urban planning authority and a statutory 

board  

 Established in 1974 in response to increasing 

urban density  

 Responsibilities include land-use planning, 

urban design, building conservation. land 

Pack Page 56



ECONOMY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND SKILLS COMMITTEE 
NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION FOR WALES 

CONSIDERATION OF MODELS FOR NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
COMMISSION FOR WALES 

 
 

5 

 

sales and carpark management 

 Creates 40 year Concept Plan 

 Long term planning underpinned by  more 

detailed 10 year Master Plans 

 
Options for a Wales Commission 
 
4.1. After comparing and contrasting the pros and cons of other national and 

international models, the following options were considered for a national 

commission for Wales.  

 
a) A statutory non-departmental public body 

Would clearly demonstrate the serious role of a commission. However, 
likely to be expensive, resource intensive to introduce and set up, likely to 
increase bureaucracy, and potentially disproportionate to the current need.  

 
b) The UK model, with Welsh Ministers being bound by its advice 

and recommendations 

A more proportionate approach, which would benefit from a commitment to 
independent, expert analysis but would risk a democratic and 
accountability deficit.  

 
c) An independent public delivery company  
Potentially expensive and would cast doubt as to its proportionality, this 
model is essentially about delivery and not strategic advice. The focus 
could be diluted from helping to establish a longer-term infrastructure 
strategy, which is the key to unlocking a stable, investment and delivery 
framework which will benefit future generations in Wales. There are also 
potential conflicts and/or duplication between this model and other 
organisations, such as Transport for Wales.   

 
d) A statutory advisory body 

The statutory footing would elevate the seriousness of the organisation. 
However, this is still likely to be disproportionate towards fulfilling the 
objectives of the commission, and intensive to introduce. 

  
e) A non-statutory advisory body with non-public appointees 
Might be seen as proportionate but likely to call into question its value, 
seriousness and transparency without a public appointments process.  

 
f) A non-statutory advisory body with public appointees 
Proportionate to current need, although could be perceived as not as 
strong as a statutory body. The public appointments process would add 
credibility to those appointed. This model would also provide more 

Pack Page 57



ECONOMY, INFRASTRUCTURE AND SKILLS COMMITTEE 
NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE COMMISSION FOR WALES 

CONSIDERATION OF MODELS FOR NATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
COMMISSION FOR WALES 

 
 

6 

 

flexibility than other models to ‘scale up’ should evidence emerge for the 
need for change.  

  
Conclusion   

5.1. There are a range of models already in existence and different ideas for the 

status and remit of an infrastructure body. However no single model appears 

to offer a perfect ‘fit’ , and something more bespoke will need to be created for 

Wales. The evidence suggests that the most workable solution in the current 

environment would be the establishment of an advisory, non-statutory 

commission. This would provide a strong step towards strengthening decision 

making and delivery in respect of infrastructure.  

 

5.2. As well as meeting the criteria of the main principles, this model could be 

underpinned by an iterative approach in which periodic reviews are taken to 

assess its effectiveness and fit. This would provide flexibility to adapt to major 

changes in the external political, legal and financial environment, which could 

be invaluable in the current context where a high degree of uncertainty is on 

the horizon.  

 

5.3. The benefits of this approach would best be realised through an open and 

transparent process, with an emphasis on collaboration towards building a 

consensus. The advice from the body should be expert, evidence-based and 

technically sound, which will require members to be appointed based on merit 

and experience and not by virtue of office.  

 

5.4. The roles and responsibilities of the organisation should be clear from the 

outset. The Welsh Government should be open to changing the body’s status 

and remit if clear benefits emerge for doing so. One way this could be 

achieved is through reviewing the body’s status and remit before the next 

Assembly election in 2021. 

 

5.5. Depending on feedback from public consultation, a commission under this 

model could be established by summer 2017. 

Pack Page 58



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 60

Agenda Item 8


	Agenda
	2 Industry regulator / Ofcom Advisory Committee for Wales - Digital infrastructure in Wales
	EIS(5)-01-17 (p1) Ofcom Advisory Committee for Wales

	3 Industry regulator / Ofcom Cymru - Digital infrastructure in Wales
	4 Small business representatives - Digital infrastructure in Wales
	EIS(5)-01-17 (p4) Federation of Small Businesses

	5 IT experts - Digital infrastructure in Wales
	EIS(5)-01-17 (p6) Atos Wales

	6.1 Letter from the Chair of the Committee to Finance Wales regarding Finance Wales' annual report
	6.2 Letter from Finance Wales to the Chair of the Committee regarding Finance Wales' annual report
	6.3 Additional information from the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure regarding different National Infrastructure Commission models
	8 Draft report on the National Infrastructure Commission for Wales

